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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

LARRY PITT & ASSOCIATES,

Plaintiff, :
V. : CIVIL ACTION NO. 13-2398
LUNDY LAW, LLP, et al.
Defendants.
MEMORANDUM OPINION
Rufe, J. December 13, 2013

Plaintiff, a law firm, has sued a second law firm and its managing partieging state
and federal causes of action. Defendahts/e moved to dismiss allaiins. For the reasons set
forth herein, the motion will be granted in part and denied in part.

l. FACTSALLEGED IN THE AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Pitt is aPennsylvania-based law firm which providepnesentation to clients in
greater Philadelphia areiacluding Philadelphia and its Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and
Delawaresuburbs. The firm provides representation primarily in the ar¢'asnall personal
injury, social security disability, and workexdmpensatioftaw.”* Defendant Lady Lawis a
Pennsylvania-based law firm serving the same region and advertising thatdeprovi
representation to individuals pursuing personal injury, social security digahild workers’
compensation claim3he two firms directly competer clients, and for prime advertising
opportunitiesused to attract clients

Consumers wishing to retain a lawyer in the areas of personal injury, Seigity

disability, and workers’ compensation select their lawyers based upon brandmiaamee

! Defendant L. Leonard Lundy is a principal and managing partner ofyLitend. The Court will refer to both
Defendants collectively as “Lundy Law” throughout.
2 Am. Compl.{ 3.
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recall. Accordingly, effective advertising such that consumers become famittative name of

a law firm is important to the business success of that firaw firms such as Pitt and Lundy
seek advertising opportunities which provide “f®g§ reach, constant messaging, [and]
saturatiori® as such advertising creates name recognitfmtordingto Pitt, the most highly
coveted advertising venues are: 1) the exterior of buseacli®)time slots just before and after
traffic and weather updates; and 3) inside sports arenas. Phonebooks, interne¢amavestis
roadsidestationary billboardsand advertising posted inside buses and trains and at busustops
all less effective.

Historically, Pitt purchaseddvertising space on the exteriors and interibrs o
Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation Authority (“SEPTA”) buses ams| &xad on
SEPTADbus stops. SEPTA advertisements are sold by a national advertising agestty itaf.
Defendant L. Leonard Lundy’s daughter, Sara Lundy, has been an Accmauitize at Titan
since March 2011, and is responsible for selling advertisements for SEHtiée
approximately January 2012, Lundy Law has had the exclusive right to adieggtkservices
on the outside of SEPTA buses, pursuant toyeae; renewableontracts with SEPTA. In
consideration for this exclusive right, Lundy Law paid a substantial aduerfese, above the
market prices SEPTA typically charges $uch advertising. For the period of the contrRit,
and othetaw firms® cannotadvertse on the exterior of SEPTA buses, even if the advertising
spacds not being used by Lundy orynther businessPitt and other firmsnaypurchase
advertising space inside SEPTA buses and trains and on SEPTA budtoalteges that

Lundy’s exclusve contract with SEPTA for exterior advertisingrenewable indefinitely, but

3 Am. Compl 130.

* As Lundy notes, the Amended Complaint makes no mention of telesieertising.

® The Amended Complaint describfafled attempts byion-party law firmsSpear, Greenfield & Richam, P.C.and
Hill & Associates, P.C. to purchase exteridsan SEPTA buses in 2012 ar@ll2 (Am. Compl 1 8290, 9198).
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does not allege that the contraetjuireseitherparty to renevat the end of each one year tetm.
Pitt has not alleged that it has been or wildeeied the opportunity to make its own offer for an
exclusive contract with SEPTA at the expiration of Lundy’s pearexclusive contract nor
has it alleged that SEPTA has rejected higher offers for exclusive dentrdavor of Lundy
Law.

Pitt notesthat exterior bus advertisements are very effective, and are unique in that they
serve as moving billboards, reaching more prospective clients than statiolergrds or
interior bus and traiadvertisementsPitt provides no data with regard to how many individuals
in the greater Philadelphia area see interior versus exterior SEPTA ads\edult daes note
thataverage weekday ridership on SEPTA-operated vehicles is over 1 million passarmgjers, a
overall ridership is 3.fnillion passengerannually. Pitt received 142 client referrals from
SEPTA advertisemen{presumably including both interior and exterior advertisements) in 2008,
160 in 2009, 197 in 2010, and 146 in 2011, but only 16 in 2012 and 12 in 2013 after it was
barred from running advertisements on the exteriors of SEPTA buses.

In addition to the SEPTA contract, Lundy has entered into ayeamexclusive contract
to advertise on the exterior of BerkseaRegional Transportation Authority (“BARTA”) buses.
The BARTA system serge3.1million riders annually in and around Reading, Pennsylvania.
the past, Pithas advertised on the KYVddiostationduring rush hour, but now Lundy has an
exclusive contract for rush hour advertising slots scheduled around weather andpcstes
on KYW, precluding other law firms from buying advertising in those desirable time slots o

that station for at least one yéafinally, Lundy has an exclusiwentract with the Wells Fargo

®SeeAm. Compl. 1 96 (“[Pittinay later be able to secure advertising on the exteriors of buses if amd whe
Defendant Lundy’s agreement expires and Defendant Lundy decides nawoit:&n

" Pitt alleges that because other types of advertisements are not ulailauiges, it and similar law firms would
compete vigorously and be willing to pay higher prices for exterior busteivg before turning to other, less
effective forms of advertisingAm. Compl. 1 53.

8 pitt provides no data regarding the number of listeners in the regie toiiK YW, versus other commercial radio
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Centersports and entertainment arena, which precludes advelttigiogmpeting law firms$or

at least one yearL.undy obtained all of these exclusive contracts by paying “unusually high”
advertising fees, well above market rateShese facts form the basis of Pitt’s antitrust and
unfair competition claims.

Pitt’s false advertising claim is premised on the factlthady Law advertises itself as a
law firm representing clients in Social Security disability and workaysipensation cases,
when in fact it refers such cases to other firms in exchange for a refer@hdegoes not
actually represent clients in such cases.

Finally, the Amended Complaint alleges thaindy Law, which useshe phrase
“Remember this Name” ingtadvertising, filed a meritless trademark infringement lawsuit
against Pitt for Pitt's use die phrase “Remember this Number” in its advertising. The suit was
filed on March 4, 2013. The parties submitted briefs on Lundy Law’s motion for a prelymina
injunction and began discovery efforts. Then, on April 18, 2013, Lundy Law voluntarily
dismissed the trademark infringement suit within hours of learning that Pitt'sumtsucarrier
was covering the costs of litigation for Pithe Amended Complaint notes that “Remember this
Name” is not a registered trademark.

As a result of these above describetivéties, Pitthas suffered a decrease in net income,
whereas in the years before Lundy Law entered into the exclusive adgecositracts, Pitt had
typically seen an increase in net income from year to year.

. STANDARD OF REVIEW
Dismissal ofa complaint pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for failure

to state a claim upon which relief can be granted is appropriate where af{gdépiafn

stations servingie greater Philadelphia regiatyring the rush hour.
® Amended Complaint at %20.
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statemeritdoes not possess enough substance to show that plaintiff is entitled ttf risief.
determining whether a motion to dismiss is appropriate the court must consi@sfatttes

alleged in the complaint, accepting the allegations as true and drawingcal loterences in
favor of the nommoving party* Courts are not bound to accept as true legal conclusions
couched as factual allegatiotfsSomething more than a magessibilityof a claim must be
alleged; the plaintiff must allegenough facts to s a claimto relief that is plausible on its
face’’® Even in complex antitrust cases, courts must apply the plausibility standard and not a
heightened standard. The Complaint must set forth direct or inferential allegations respecting
all the materiaklements necessary to sustain recovery under some viable legal'th@bey.

court has no duty “to conjure up unpleaded facts that might turn a frivoloastianinto a
substantial on&*®

[Il. DISCUSSION

A. Antitrust Claims

1. Sherman ActSection 2 Claim¢Count | and II)

In Counts | and II, Pitt alleges that Lundy Law has violated Section 2 of the &herm
Act, which prohibits people or entities from monopolizing or attempting to monopaitefr
A party can violate Section 2 through unilateral congifath creates or attempts to create

monopoly, oty harmfully exercisingmonopoly power® To state a claim under Section 2, a

10Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twmbly, 550 U.S. 544, 557 (2007).

1 ALA, Inc. v. CCAIR, In¢29 F.3d 855, 859 (3d Cir. 1994y v. Muhlenberg CallNo. 074516, 2008 WL
205227, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 24, 2008).

12 Twombly 550 U.S. at 555

131d. at 570.

14 West Penn Allegheny Health System, Inc. v. UPB2C,F.3d 85, 98 (3d Cir. 2010) (holding that it is
inappropriate to apply heightened scrutiny to antitrust and other congsek c

15 Twombly 550 U.S at 562.

1814, (citing O’Brien v. DiGrazia,544 F.2d 543, 546 n.3YTir. 1976)).

15 u.s.c§2.
8 The Amended Coniaint does not allege the exercise of monopoly power
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plaintiff must demonstrat§1) that the defendant has engaged in predatory or anticompetitive
conduct with (2) a specific intent to monopolize and (3) a dangerous probability @fiaghi

monopoly powet!®

To demonstrate tha dangerous probability of achieving monopoly powe
exids, a plaintiff mustlefine the relevant geographic market and product market, and explain
defendant’s power within that mark&t.“Where theplaintiff fails to define its proposed relevant
market with reference to the rule of reasonable interchangeamlbtgrosslasticity of demand,
or alleges a proposed relevant market that clearly does not encompass almgeatie
substitute products even when all factual inferences are granted in plafatitits the relevant
market is legally insufficient aha motion to dismiss may be grantéd.”

Pitt argues that it is direct competitor of Lundy Law antlat Lundy Law has engaged
in an antiecompetitive scheme in restraint of trade, causing injury to Pitt by monopolizing or
attempting to monopolize two markets in the greater Philadelphia region: the matkghafo
services providers primarily representing clientsnmall personal injurySocial Security
disability,andworkers’ compensatiocasesand the market for “mass reach, constant
messaging, saturation advertising for [such] legal serviet.is alleged that Lundizaw and
Pitt compete with each other, and with other firms and businesses, in both product markets.
Lundy Law challenges the adequacy of the pleadings as to both the geographicaondube
market definitions proposed by Pitt.

The Court findghat Rtt has adequately defined the proposed geographrket at this
stage in the litigation. While on a complete factual record Lundy Law might mainatlange

to the proposed geograpmmtarket, the Court finds that Pitt’'s geographic market definition is

19 pastore v. Bell Tel. Co. of P24 F.3d 508, 512 (3d Cir. 1994)
20
Id.
2L Queen City Piz, Inc. v. Domino’s Pizza, Incl24 F.3d 430, 436 (3d Cir. 1997).
#Doc. No. 22 at 11.



adequately supported for notice and pleading purposes.

The Court will assume, for purposes of this motion, Fhtithas sufficiently defined the
first of its proposed product markdefinitions—the legal market consisting law firms focused
on small personal injury, Social Security disability, and workers’ compensationsé?
However,the Court finds that Pitt has failedatlege sufficienthythatLundy Lawhas engaged in
predabry or anticompetitive conduct with a specific intent to monopolizeléigal market.
AlthoughLundy Law may well wishio dominate thategalmarket, it has not been adequately
pled that Lundy Law has engaged in predatory or anticompetitive candachieve that go&f
The goal of all advertising is to increase market share, and the fact thatsilyesteffective
does not render its use anticompetitive or predatory. In fact, in seekingexeldgertising
opportunities, it appears that Lundy Law is responttrgpmpetition in the legaharket Pitt
has alleged no facts, beyond Lundy Law’s acquisition of discrete, albeit hifgdyied,
advertising opportunities, in support of its claim that Lundy Law has engagediaiqreor
anticompetitive conduct.

Additionally, Pitt has failed to allegactsdemonstrating that Lundy Law dominates or is
in danger of monopolizing this legal market. Pitt has not alleged facts to silppssertons
that Lundy Law’s clients may b&harged higher prices because of Lundy Law’s superior market

power? that Lundy Law’s practices have limited consumer choice, or that LuaeksL

% Broadcom Corp. v. Qualcomm In801 F.3d 297, 307 (3d Cir. 2007) (in determining whether competing entities
are in the same market, the Court must examine whether products oeseaina readily substitutéa one
another).

2 Under§ 2 of the Sherman Act, an increase in market share, even to the level of igqumper, is only suspect
if achieved by improper means, rather than as a consequence of a superiorgreduey business dealings.
Queen City Zzg 124 F.3d a#137.

% pitt admits that.undy Lawhas not raised its feebove markelevels, but argues that it could potentially do so.
However, while Pitt’s factual allegations support its claim that Lundy ¢ augerior name recognition may lead
potential clients to call Lundy Law first, theye not sufficient teupport a claim that Lundy Lakas the market
power to raise fees above those typically charged for equivalent serviceatiaiting cliets to lowerpriced
competitors.



practices have created barriers to entry in the relevant nfarkghile Pitt alleges that it has
received fewer workers’ copensation cases since losing the opportunity to advertise on the
exterior of SEPTA buses, this allegation only demonstrates an injury to Pitt, andcoastumer
choice or to competition for client®\s antitrust laws protect competition, not compesifdhese
allegations are insufficiert.

Pitt also asserts that Lundy Law has illegally monopolized or attempted to momropoliz
the market for “mass reach, constant messaging, saturation advertisegpisdrvices.”
However, this proposed product market definition is not sufficiently pgleslv firms are not the
only entities competing fdmass reach, constant messaging, saturation advertising”
opportunities in the greater Philadelphia region, and the Court sees no rationalkifngrihe
qualifier “for legal servicesin defining the proposeadvertising market. From the perspective
of an entity selling advertising space, law firms and legal purchasers of advertising space are
readily substituted for one anothdfurthermore, the Coudannot infer from the facts alleged
thatthe four advertising opportunities currently dominated by Lundy Law pursuaxtitsizve
contracts constitute the entirety of the market for “mass reach, constes#gimgy, saturation
advertisirg for legal services While the Court accept$or the purposes of this motion, the
allegationthat the four advertising opportunities at issue have proven to be uniestexdtywe, it
is not persuaded that they alone constituteagket in light of the universe of regional venues
for similar advertising, including other radio stations, sports stadiantgtransit systems

serving the greater Philadelphia region, as wellilisoards, taxi cab advertising, advertising

% pitt quotesBroadcom “Barriers to entry are factors . that prevent new competition from entering a market in
response to a monopolist's supracompetitive pridast,’has admitted that Lundy Law does aatrentlycharge
supracompetite pricesand does not allegany facts from which the Court can conclude that there would be
significant barriers to new competitors entering the legal market ifyuad did, given the wide array of possible
advertising opportunities in the geographic region which have not enméoeskclusive contracts with Lundy Law
and the fact that Pitt has alleged that consumers of the type of legal sérpimvidesio notchose law firms based
onentrenched brand preferences or law firm reputatioumisrather on name recognitioBee Boadcom 501 F.3d

at 307.

2"Brown Shoe Co. v. United Stat850 U.S. 294, 320 (1962).
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space inside busesd trains and at bus stops, televisiaternet and newspapexdvertising.
Lundy Lawclearlydoes notontrolall avenues for advertising the greater Philadelphia region
and, additionally, it is not clear from the complaint that Pitt has beerlldyenfioreclosed frm
bidding for the very contracts from which Lundy Law now benefits, at the end of thractont
terms.

Moreover, &clusive dealing contracts are unlawéully if the probable effect is to lessen
competition in the relevant mat¢® Even if the Court accepted that four advertising
opportunities constituted a markBitt cannot allege that Lundy Law’s exclusive contracts have
damaged competition in that markeicause those contracts have not precludedagath-
entities from competing for advertising opportunities with the relevant entitisle Pitt is not
able to compete for advertising space infthe venues at issuguring Lundy Law’s exclusive
contract term, companies advertising other products and services magfordyeeen taking
the facts alleged as trube Court cannot find that competition is harmed by these exclusive
dealing contract§’

Finally, Pitt argues that Lundy Law filed a frivolous trademark lawsuit against Pitt
motivated by an anticompetitive purpose, armilssed that case two months after it was filed
onceLundy Lawlearned that Pitt’'s defense costs were covered by insur&ves accepting as
true, for the purpose of thamalysisthe allegation that this suit was baseless and filed only to
cause financial injury to Pitt, Pitt has not alleged any facts from which the €oufind that the
suitwas intended to cause an injuryctampetitionin the relevant markets, nor has it adga
dangerous probability of achieving monopoly power.

2. Sherman Act, Section 1 Claini€ounts Ill and IV)

28 7FMeritor, LLC v. Eaton Corp696 F.3d 254, 268 (2012)

2 The fact that the entities chacgeundy Lawa premium, well above typical market rates, for exclusive advertising
contracts does not make those contractsamtipetitive. In fact, the premium Lundy Law paid for exclusive
advertising contracts indicates that Lundy Laeksthe market power to dre down its cost of buying

advertisements in the relevant markdts.at 270-71; Queen City Piz, 124 F.3d at 438
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Section 1 of the Sherman act prohibits contracts, conspiracies, and combinations in
restraint of tradé® A claim under Sectiot must allege ctéctive actior—i.e. an agreement
between two or more actot5.A plaintiff must also plead: 1) concerted action by the parties to
the agreement, acting with unity of purpose or common design to engage in unlawful hehavior
2) causing antcompetitive effets within the relevant product and geographic markets; and 3)
causing injury to the plaintiff®

In Count IV, Pitt alleges unlawful exclusive dealing in violation of the Sherman Ritt
argueghat he aggregate effect of the four exclusive dealing contracts Lundy Laentexed
into is tolessen competition in tHegalmarketplace However, Pitt fails to allege that Lundy
Law andtheentities with which Lundy Law has an exclusive advertising contictetd “with
unity of purpose” to “engage in unlawful” anticompetitive behavigthile Lundy Law clearly
acted with the intent of excluding competittnem specific advertising opportunities during
exclusive contract periodd is alleged that they paid well above markates for exclusive
advertisng rightsin thesevenuessuggestinghat the entities with which they contracted acted
out of economic self-interest and not with an anticompetitive purpose.

With regard to SEPTARIaintiff allegeshat Leonard Lundy’s daughter, Sara Lundy, was
the Acount Executive at Titan who arranged the exclusive advertising deal betwe®A S&d
Lundy Law, and Pitts asks the Court to infer that that Sara Lundy shared with Lundyé&aw t
goalof engaging in unlawful, anticompetitive behavistowever,even if an employee of Titan
wanted to benefit Lundy Law, it would be unfair tder that Titan or SEPTA had illegal
motives as opposed to legitimate economic motives, when the three other entities, wimich are

alleged to employ Lundy family membeegjreed to enter into similar business deals with Lundy

015U.s.C§1.
31 Mathews v. Lancaster Gen. Hosp7 F.3d 624, 639 (3d Cir. 1996).
21d.
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Law.*3

In addition, Pitt has not argued that any one of the exclusive contracts would fzed cre
an anticompetitive effect, but only that thggregate effect of the four exclusive contracts is
anticompetitiveor constituted an illegal boycotThereforethe Amended Complaint musét
forth facts which demonstrate the existence of a horizontal conspiracylliusian among the
sellers of advertisinghot just four vertical conspiraci€ése. cdlusion between Lundy Law and
each seller of advertising} However Pitt has failed to allege any facts from which the Court
can infer thathe four entities with which Lundy Law exclusively contracted colluded with ea
other, as well as with Lundy Lawyith the object of restraining competition for advertising
space. In fact, Pitt has not even alleged that any of the four entities weeechlwandy Law’s
exclusive contracts with the otherloreover Pitt asserts no rational motive for the Fuarty
entities toso collude or t@articipate in &boycott.” While charging a premium in exchange for
exclusive rights to advertise legal services during a contract period e@k&smic sense,
eliminating the buyer’s competitors for future exclusive congraould be economically
irrational. The conduct of the relevant entities is consistent with permissiblettbom
Accordingly, Count 11l will be dismissed for failure to state a claim.

5. Lanham Act Clain{Count V)

The Lanham Act creates civil lialjyiwhen a person is likely to be injured by a false or
misleading statement made in advertising, when that statemdikelg to cause confusion, or

to cause mistake, or to deceive as to the affiliation, connection, or associatich pesson

% Moreover, as noted above, Plaintiff has not adequately defined an adgeriaiket, and thus cannot

demonstrate that Lundy Law's contract for SEPTA advertising causasticompetitive effect within that market.

34 «Courts have refused to find a honizal conspiracy, where a single entity or person engages in separate vertical
conspiracies with multiple parties, who do not conspire amongss#teas horizontally.Brunson Commc'ns, Inc.

v. Arbitron, Inc, 239 F. Supp. 2d 55062 (E.D. Pa. 2002YA horizontal group boycott involves entities at the

same level of the market structure conspiring amongst themselves purpose either to exclude a person or

group from the market, or to accomplish some othercmtipetitive objective, or bothld. at561-62 (internal
guotations omitted).
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with another person, or as to the origin, sponsorship, or approval of his or her goods, services, or
commercialctivities by anotheperson . . . * To state a claim fofalse advertisinginder the

Lanham Act, a plaintiff musdllege: “1) that the defendant hasde false or misleading

statements a® his own product [or anothst; 2) that there is actual deception or at least a
tendency to deceive a substantial portion of the intended audience; 3) that the deception is
material in that it is likely to influeze purchasing decisions; 4) that the advertised goods traveled
in interstate commerce; and 5) that there is a likelihood of injury to the plaintifims &

declining sales, loss of good will, et"The second element is presumed if Plaintiff

demonstates that an advertisement is unambiguous and literally*false.

In Count V, Pitt argues that, in violation of Pennsylvania Rule of Professional Conduct
7.2,Lundy Law has falsely advertised that it represents clients with Socialitgetsability and
workers’ compensation claims, when in fact it refers such clients to otherfbrmepresentation
in exchange for a referral fee, and that these deceptive statements are likdietewenthe
decision of potential clients to contact Lundy Law rather than one of its céonpetAssuming,
for the purpose of this motiothat the allegations the Amended Complaistretrue and_undy
Law does notepresent clients in Social Security disability and workers’ compensaaons,
the Court finds that th€omplaint sufficiently allegethat Lundy Laws advertisements have a
tendency to deceivar misleada substantial portion of the intended audience, and may even be
literally false® Plaintiff has also sufficiently pled that advertising for the types of legaices
at issue here does influence consumers’ “purchasing” decisiodgherefore Lundy Law’s

advertisements may draw business which would otherwise go to Pitt or otheichuasg

%15 U.S.C§ 1125(afl)(A).
% pernod Ricard USA, LLC v. Bacardi USA, [ri53 F.3d 241, 248 (3d Cir. 2011).
37
Id.
¥ SeeSantana Products, Inc. v. Bobrick Washroom Equipment,4at.F.3d 123, 136 (3d Cir. 2005).
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injury to Pitt As this claim is better decided on a complete factual record;dabe will not
dismiss this claim on the pleadjs.

B. State L aw Claims®®

1. Unfair Competition(Count VI)

Lundy Law argues that Patunfair competition claimassertedinder state common law
are ceextensive with and fail for thsame reasons Plaintiff's antist claims fail. Pennsylvania
follows the Restatement (Third) of Unfair Competition, which provitlasone engaging in a
business otrade can be liable fdharm to the commercial relations of another ahllge acts or
practices aractionableunder federal or state statuteastheact or practice “substantially
interferd] with the ability of others to compete on the merits of their prodd€t<burts in this
district haveheldthat in order to assert a claim pursuant to Pennsylvania’s common law
prohibition against mfair competition, a plaintiff must set forth adequate allegations regarding
relevant markets and market sh&reAlthough Pitt argues otherwise, the Court findst fitt
relies on the samaeficient factual allegations to support both his antitrust claims and his state
law unfair competition claim®@s Pitt’'s antitrust claims fail, so too do his state law unfair
competition claims.

2. Tortious Interference ClaifCount VII)

Pitt alleges that Lundy Law tortuously interfered with Piirgicipated futur@dvertising
contracts with KYW, SEPTA, BARTA, and the Wells Fargo Center. To statéra fir
tortious interference under Pennsylvania law, a plaintiff must plgdtde existence of a

prospective contractual relationship between the plaintiff and a third pady2)aurposeful

39 Because one of Plaintiff's federal law claims survives, the (Gms supplemental jurisdiction to hear Plaintiff's
related state law claims.

“OYeagets Fuel, Inc. v. Pa. Power &ight,Co., 953 F. Supp. 61B68(E.D. Pa. 1997).

“1 See Fresh Made, Inc. v. Lifeway Foods, ,IN@. 01-4254,2002 WL 31246922t *9 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 9, 2002)
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action by defendant to interfere with that prospective relationship; 3) witholége or
justification; 4) causing legal injur¥?

Lundy Law argues that Pitt’s tortious interference with contract is inatielgyyded and
fails to state a clairbecause Pithas not allegethcts sufficient to show that Phiad a
prospective contractual relationship with the four entities. Furthermonelyllaw argues that
it did na enter into exclusive contracts with those entities for the purpose of harittiag P
business relationships, but rather for the purpose of enhancing its own visibilggnmpatitive
industry. The Court agrees that Pitaéinot adequately pled the elements of a tortious
interference with contract claim, for the reasons Lundy Law raRisalleges only that it
contracted for advertising space lwihe four entities in the pasit; does not allege any facts
from which he Court can infethatthe parties had mutually anticipated entering into such
agreements in the futuréloreover, exclusive contracts by their nature interfere with the ability
of third parties to enter into contraetith the bound parties; this doestmake exclusive
contracts inherently tortious.

3. Dragonetti Claim (Count VII)

Pennsylvania’s Dragonetti Aatlows a civil suit for wrongful initiatiorof civil court
proceeding without probable cause and for a purpose other than securing adjudication of a legal
claim, when the proceedings end in favor of the defentfant.

Here, Lundy Law, which uses tharegistereglogan “Remember this Name” in
advertisingsued Pitt when Pittegan using the slogan “Remember this Number” in its
advertsing. Lundy Law dismissed thawsuit without prejudice two months after it was filed,

after briefing on the Motion for Preliminary Injunction was complete,alegedly the same day

2 CGB Occupational Therapync.v. RHA Health Servicdac., 357 F.3d 375, 384 (3d Cir. 2004).
*342 Pa. Cons. Stat. §851-8355.
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it learned that Pitt's insurance company was covering the cost oéfiiese, without any rulings
on the merits being made. Pitt now argues that the suit wasvitleout probable cause, not to

resolve a legal dispute, but in an effort to negatively impact on its advertisirnguasel financial

harm to Pitt.

Lundy Law argies that Pitt cannot state a Dragonetti claim because Pitt is unable to
allege that the trademark suit brought by Lundy Law was terminated in Rittis*faLundy
Law points out that the case was not voluntarily dismissed on the eve of trial @r @ib&ion
for summary judgment had been filedl anticipation oimminent loss on the merits, but rather
was dismissed without prejudice less than two months after it wasTileldwever, the Court
notes that a Motion for Preliminary Injunction wially briefed andpending, and a haag on
that notion was scheduled at the time of the voluntary dismissal. The court’s ruling on the
motion would have included an assessment of the likelihosdasfess on the meritS.

At this stage of the proceedings, the @dinds that the Dragonetti claim is adequately
pled. The Court will allow Pitt to conduct discovery on this claand will decide the question
of whethewoluntary dismissal at thotion for peliminaryinjunction stage caoonstitute
termination inthe defendant’s favor upon a complete factual retord.

3. Abuse of Process (Count IX)

Pitt also argues that the trademark infringement lawsuit constituted vidtetedmmon

law intentional tort of abuse of process, which does not require a showing that tHgingder

“ Sports Int'ILtd. v. Obermayer, Bbmann, Maxwel& Hippel, No. 951331, 1996 WL 50632, *23 (E.D. Pa. Jan.

30, 1995).

%5 Cf. Mistick v. MistickNo. 0817689, 2011 WL 9106050 (Pa. Com. PI., Nov. 17, 20Bajnar v. Miller, 701

A.2d 242, 248 (Pa. Super. 1997).

“6Doe v. National Bd. of Med. Examiset99 F.3d 146, 154 (3d Cir. 199@)iscussing standard for deciding
motionsfor preliminary injunctions)

*"See Clausi v. Stuck4 A.3d 242, 24¢Pa. Super. 2013) (when considering the question of whether a voluntary
dismissal constitutes a favorable, final termination of a case, theroosttconsider the factual circumstanoader
which the proceedings are withdrawn.).

15



litigation was terminated in its favoAn abuse of processatin must allege: 1) an abuse or
perversion of process a casalready initiated; 2primarily to achievean unlawful or ulterior
purpose; 3) causing harm to the other p&ttin other words, abuse of process is the use of civil
litigation as a tactical weapdn accomplish a purposgher than legitimate object of the
litigation.”® “[T]here is no liability where the defendant has done nothing more than carry out
the process to its authorized conclusion, even though with bad interifons.”

Plaintiff alleges that the suit was filed in order to drain Pitt’s financial resquanes
improper purposé® However,unlike a Dragonetti clainpne cannot rest an abuse of process
claim on an Begation that the suit wasitiated for an improper purpos®. It has not been
alleged that Lundy Law took any steps to inflate the cost of defending this somidbehat was
required to address the merits of the claifsor was any other perversionmbcess alleged.
Finally, Pitt has not alleged an injuds its costs in the litigation were covered by their insurance
carrier, and it has not alleged any other harm.

V. CONCLUSION
For the reasons set forth hereCounts I, II, IIl, IV, VI,VII, and X are dismissed

without prejudice, and Plaintiff may proceed with Counts V and VIII.

8 Shaffer v. Steward73 A.2d 1017, 1019 (Pa. Sup&®84): Tomalonis v. LevaniNo. 73:EDA-2004, 2005 WL
1677555, at *2 (Pa. Super. May 10, 2005).

“9 General Refractories Co. v. Fireman’s Fund Ins.,387F.3d 297, 304 (3d Ci2003); Tomalonis 2006 WL
1677555 at *2

** Tomalonis2005WL 1677555, at 8.

*1 pitt also argues that Lundy Law perverted legal process in order torfeterorundermine [Pitt's] advertising.”
Am. Compl. 1 121 .However, this gal is consistent with the express purpose of Lundy Law’s tradelitigeition
over Pitt's use of the slogan “Remember this Number” in its advertising

2 Koresko v. Crosswhiféo. 054817, 2008NL 263623 at *7 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 1, 200¢hoting thaibuse oprocess
is concerned with the perversion of a civil process after it has been isstiaithnthe bad motives which caused a
litigant to file the lawsuitand dismissing abuse of process claims that only alleged improper mdiliregi

lawsuif).

%3 Lundy Law’s filing of a moion for preliminary injunction wa consistent with the stated purpose of the suit: to
put a stop to the alleged trademark infringement.
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